#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

#### OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PINNACLE MUSEUM TOWER	)	CASE NO. S186149
ASSOCIATION,	)	
	)	[Fourth District Court
Plaintiff/Respondent,	)	of Appeal, Division One,
	)	Case No. D055422]
v.	)	[San Diego County
	)	Superior Court Case No.
PINNACLE MARKET	)	37-2008-00096678-
DEVELOPMENT (US), LLC, et al.,	)	CU-CD-CTL,
	)	Hon. Ronald L. Styn]
Defendants/Appellants.	)	-
	)	
	_	

### OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

An Appeal from a Judgment of the Honorable Ronald L. Styn, San Diego County Superior Court DEC 10 5010

#### ISSUES PRESENTED BY PETITION FOR REVIEW

- 1. Do recorded covenants, conditions and restrictions ("CC&Rs") for common interest developments constitute agreements that bind the residents' homeowners association?
- 2. May state courts in matters subject to the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. §1 *et seq.*) apply state law differently to arbitration provisions in an agreement than to other provisions in the agreement?

No additional issues were presented in the Answer to the Petition for Review.

///

#### INTRODUCTION

This case arises from the trial court's denial of a set of motions to compel arbitration, as required by a recorded declaration of covenants, conditions and restrictions for a common interest development. The arbitration provision incorporated the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §1 *et seq.* ("FAA"). The trial court denied the motions because it believed arbitration was unconscionable. The Court of Appeal affirmed in a published opinion, concluding that there was no agreement to arbitrate and that, even if there was, the arbitration provision was unconscionable.

This Court granted review to address the two issues stated above. The Court of Appeal acknowledged that its conclusion conflicted with its own earlier decision finding that there was an agreement. In addition, the Court of Appeal found unconscionability by applying the doctrine differently to the arbitration provision of the agreement than to the rest of the agreement, an approach which the U.S. Supreme Court has expressly banned in FAA cases.

As this Court would expect, Appellants disagree with the lower courts' reasoning. The legal details of those disagreements form most of the body of this brief. However, it may be best to begin by pointing out that public policy favors the use of arbitration, a point made repeatedly by this Court. For example, in the course of explaining why a court would only rarely reject an arbitrator's award, this Court said:

Title 9 of the Code of Civil Procedure, as enacted and periodically amended by the Legislature, represents a comprehensive statutory scheme regulating private arbitration in this state. Through this detailed statutory scheme, the Legislature has expressed a "strong public policy in favor of arbitration as a speedy and relatively inexpensive means of dispute resolution. Consequently, courts will "indulge every intendment to give effect to such proceedings." Indeed, more than 70 years ago this court explained: "The policy of the law in recognizing arbitration agreements and in providing by statute for their enforcement is to encourage persons who wish to avoid delays incident to a civil action to obtain an adjustment of their differences by a tribunal of their own choosing." Moncharsh v. Heily & Blase (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1, 9 (internal citations omitted for readability). 1

The lengthy list of internal citations in the footnote shows how well-established this favorable view of arbitration is in California. More recently, this Court noted that California law is "like federal law" in favoring enforcement of arbitration agreements. *Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, 97. This statement was based on many similar pronouncements by the U.S. Supreme Court. For example:

///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The omitted citations were CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE §1280 et seq.; Ericksen, Arbuthnot, McCarthy, Kearney & Walsh, Inc. v. 100 Oak Street (1983) 35 Cal.3d 312, 322; Madden v. Kaiser Foundation Hospitals (1976) 17 Cal.3d 699, 706-707; Victoria v. Superior Court (1985) 40 Cal.3d 734, 750 [dis. opn. of Lucas, J.]; City of Oakland v. United Public Employees (1986) 179 Cal.App.3d 356, 363; Shearson/American Express Inc. v. McMahon (1987) 482 U.S. 220, 226; 107 S.Ct. 2332; Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.; Doers v. Golden Gate Bridge etc. Dist. (1979) 23 Cal.3d 180, 189; Pacific Inv. Co. v. Townsend (1976) 58 Cal.App.3d 1, 9; and Utah Const. Co. v. Western Pac. Ry. Co. (1916) 174 Cal. 156, 159.

[T]he Courts of Appeals have since consistently concluded that questions of arbitrability must be addressed with a healthy regard for the federal policy favoring arbitration. We agree. The Arbitration Act establishes that, as a matter of federal law, any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration, whether the problem at hand is the construction of the contact language itself or an allegation of waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability. *Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital v. Mercury Construction Corp.* (1983) 460 U.S. 1, 24-25; 103 S.Ct. 927, 941.

#### As the U.S. Supreme Court explained more recently:

First, the basic purpose of the Federal Arbitration Act is to overcome courts' refusals to enforce agreements to arbitrate. The origins of those refusals apparently lie in "ancient times," when the English courts fought "for extension of jurisdiction—all of them being opposed to anything that would altogether deprive every one of them of jurisdiction." American courts initially followed English practice, perhaps just "stand[ing]... upon the antiquity of the rule" prohibiting arbitration clause enforcement, rather than "upon its excellence or reason." Regardless, when Congress passed the Arbitration Act in 1925, it was "motivated, first and foremost, by a . . . desire" to change this antiarbitration rule. It intended courts to "enforce [arbitration] agreements into which parties had entered," and to place such agreements 'upon the same footing as other contracts." Allied-Bruce Terminix Companies, Inc. v. Dobson (1995) 513 U.S. 265, 270; 115 S.Ct. 834, 838 (internal citations omitted for readability; ellipses and brackets original).

#### And even more recently:

///

///

We have likewise rejected generalized attacks on arbitration that rest on "suspicion of arbitration as a method of weakening the protections afforded in the substantive law to would-be complainants." These cases demonstrate that even claims arising under a statute designed to further important social policies may be arbitrated because "so long as the prospective litigant effectively may vindicate [his or her] statutory cause of action in the arbitral forum," the statute serves its functions. *Green Tree Financial Corp.-Alabama v. Randolph* (2000) 531 U.S. 79, 89-90; 121 S.Ct. 513, 521 (internal citations omitted for readability, brackets original).

The arbitration provisions of the Project CC&Rs were approved by the government regulatory agency with jurisdiction – the Department of Real Estate (the "Department") – because they complied with regulatory requirements. They are not unusual in any way. They are not one-sided. They are set off in bold, capital type. Each buyer of a unit in the common interest development saw and initialed a similar provision in their purchase agreements. Appellants respectfully request that this Court reverse the judgments below and direct the lower courts to grant the petitions to compel arbitration.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal concerns the declaration of covenants, conditions and restrictions for a mixed-use, common interest development called Pinnacle (the "Project"). (Appellants' Appendix Volume 2, pages 367 *et seq*. [hereafter AA vol:page; where the record contains more than one copy of a document, only one will be cited]) The Project is located at 550 Front Street in downtown San Diego. (AA 2:342) The Project's developer, and the initial seller of individual

units in it, was Appellant PINNACLE MARKET DEVELOPMENT (US), LLC, identified in the Project CC&Rs as "Declarant." (AA 2:330; 2:370, §1.18)<sup>2</sup>

The Project includes residential and commercial units. (AA 2:367-368, ¶A-¶H)

Plaintiff/Respondent PINNACLE MUSEUM TOWER ASSOCIATION (the "Association") is the association of the Project's property owners, including residents and commercial members. (AA 2:367, ¶E; 2:368, §1.3)

The Project CC&Rs were initially recorded on April 23, 2003 (AA 2:367, ¶B), but the restated declaration at issue here was recorded on September 27, 2005 (AA 2:361).<sup>3</sup> Article XVIII of the Project CC&Rs governs construction defect claims. Section 18.1(b) defines the key term, "Construction Dispute," to mean:

///

///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The other Appellants – PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL (US), LLC; PINNACLE MARKET DEVELOPMENT (CANADA), LTD.; MICHAEL DE COTIIS; and APRIANO MEOLA – are affiliates, officers or employees of the actual developer, with little or nothing to do with the alleged construction defects. Given the procedural posture of this appeal, though, their connection to the complaint's allegations concerning the Project will be assumed *arguendo*. For simplicity, they will be referred to collectively in this brief as "Appellants."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The original CC&Rs for the Project were revised to reflect minor construction issues such as the location of window washing equipment. Buyers were given the opportunity to rescind their purchase agreements before the revised and restated CC&Rs were recorded, but all agreed to the changes. In any event, there is no indication in the record that the relevant (arbitration) provisions changed.

... any dispute between an Owner or the Association and Declarant or between an Owner or the Association and any employee, agent, partner, contractor, subcontractor, or material supplier of Declarant which dispute relates to the use or condition of the Project or any improvements to the Project. Construction Disputes include, but are not limited to, disputes regarding boundaries, surveys, soils conditions, grading, design, specifications, construction, installation of improvements or disputes which allege breach of implied or express warranties as to the condition of the Project. (AA 2:412)

Subdivisions (a) and (b) of Section 18.2 of the Project CC&Rs require that a Construction Dispute claimant first give notice of its claim, then allow the other party to inspect and correct the alleged problem. (AA 2:412) The Project CC&Rs expressly reserve the parties' rights under applicable statutes. (AA 2:412, §18.2(b), (c)) If the parties do not resolve the problem informally, subdivision (d) of Section 18.2 requires that the parties submit the dispute to mediation. (AA 2:412) Finally, if mediation does not end the dispute, the Project CC&Rs require the use of arbitration rather than litigation:

Arbitration. It is the desire and intention of the Declarant, Owners and Association (referred in this Section as "parties") to agree upon a mechanism and procedure under which any controversy, breach or dispute between Declarant and an Owner or the Association will be resolved in a prompt and expeditious manner. If the parties cannot resolve the Construction Dispute pursuant to the procedures described in Section 18.2 above, the matter shall be submitted and resolved exclusively through binding arbitration in the county in which the Project is located. (AA 2:413, bold and underlining original)

Arbitration would be conducted through JAMS, the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services, using a retired judge. (AA 2:413-414, §18.3(a), (b))

The Project CC&Rs expressly limit the arbitration costs that the Association or Owners could incur so as not to exceed similar costs in litigation. (AA 2:414, §18.3(c)) The arbitrator must render a written decision. (AA 2:414, §18.3(g))

Section 18.3(i) expressly binds the parties to the FAA:

(i) Federal Arbitration Act. Because many of the materials and products incorporated into the residences and other improvements constructed within the Project are manufactured in other states, this Declaration involves and concerns interstate commerce and is governed by the provisions of the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. § 1, et seq.) now in effect and as the same may from time to time be amended. Accordingly, Federal Arbitration Act shall govern the interpretation and enforcement of the arbitration provisions of this Article. (AA 2:414, bold original)

The fact that the Project's construction required a great deal of out-of-state and foreign material was shown in the record below (AA 2:277, ¶2) and has not been disputed.

The next paragraph of the Project CC&Rs expressly, and in bold capital letters, waived the rights to jury and appeal:

(j) WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL AND RIGHT TO APPEAL.
DECLARANT, AND BY ACCEPTING A DEED FOR ANY
PORTION OF THE TOWER ASSOCIATION PROPERTY, THE
ASSOCIATION AND EACH OWNER, AGREE (i) TO HAVE ANY
CONSTRUCTION DISPUTE DECIDED BY NEUTRAL
ARBITRATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FEDERAL
ARBITRATION ACT AND THE CALIFORNIA ARBITRATION
ACT, TO THE EXTENT THE CALIFORNIA ARBITRATION ACT
IS CONSISTENT WITH THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT;

(ii) TO GIVE UP ANY RIGHTS THEY MIGHT POSSESS TO HAVE THE CONSTRUCTION DISPUTE LITIGATED IN A COURT OR JURY TRIAL; (iii) TO GIVE UP THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO APPEAL, UNLESS THOSE RIGHTS ARE SPECIFICALLY INCLUDED IN THE APPLICABLE ARBITRATION RULES OR STATUTES. IF ANY PARTY REFUSES TO SUBMIT TO ARBITRATION AFTER AGREEING TO THIS PROVISION, SUCH PARTY MAY BE COMPELLED TO ARBITRATE UNDER THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT AND THE CALIFORNIA ARBITRATION ACT, TO THE EXTENT THE CALIFORNIA ARBITRATION ACT IS CONSISTENT WITH THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT. (AA 2:414, bold capitals original)

Purchase agreements for the individual units in the Project – i.e., for the members of the Association – affirmed these provisions. These contracts provided, with each buyer initialing the following:

#### SECTION 8—DISPUTE NOTIFICATION; RESOLUTION PROCEDURES; WAIVERS

Buyer and Seller agree that any certain disputes shall be resolved according to the provisions set forth in Article XVIII of the Declaration and waive their respective rights to pursue any dispute in any manner other than as provided in that Article.

Buyer and Seller acknowledge that by agreeing to resolve all disputes as provided in the Declaration, they are giving up their respective rights to have such disputes tried before a jury.

WE HAVE READ AND UNDERSTAND THE FOREGOING AND AGREE TO COMPLY WITH ARTICLE XVIII OF THE DECLARATION WITH RESPECT TO THE DISPUTE REFERENCED THEREIN. (AA 2:337, §8, bold capitals original)

In addition, Buyers separately initialed a paragraph in an addendum to the purchase agreement requiring them to provide all subsequent buyers with copies of all purchase documents. (AA 2:355 §5)

When a Construction Dispute arose between Declarant and the Association, efforts at an informal resolution pursuant to the "Right to Repair" law failed. (AA 2:279 §2; see Civil Code §895 et seq., often called "SB 800")

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Association filed this construction defect lawsuit in San Diego County Superior Court. (AA 1:1-47) The different Appellants, in separate motions, moved the trial court to compel arbitration. (AA 1:48 et seq., 1:159 et seq., 2:251 et seq., 2:266 et seq.; cf. 2:432fn1) The Association submitted no evidence in opposition to the motion, only argument. (AA 2:428-448) The trial court nevertheless denied the motions to compel arbitration on June 5, 2010, holding that the agreements were unconscionable. (AA 2:469-471) Appellants timely appealed the order denying arbitration. (AA 2:473-476, 478-483) The denial of the petitions is made appealable by CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE §1294(a).

The Court of Appeal affirmed in an opinion originally published at 187 Cal.App.4th 24; 113 Cal.Rptr.3d 399. This Court granted review on November 10, 2010.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

When a petition to compel arbitration is filed, this Court has held that:

Because the existence of the agreement is a statutory prerequisite to granting the petition, the petitioner bears the burden of proving its existence by a preponderance of the evidence. If the party opposing the petition raises a

defense to enforcement–either fraud in the execution voiding the agreement, or a statutory defense of waiver or revocation–that party bears the burden of producing evidence of, and proving by a preponderance of the evidence, any fact necessary to the defense. *Rosenthal v. Great Western Financial Securities Corp.* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 394, 413 (internal citations omitted for readability).

In *Rosenthal*, this Court demanded *evidence* on each point. Thus, the Court looked at the "Sufficiency of Plaintiffs' Showings," ultimately holding that some plaintiffs had met their factual and evidentiary burdens while others had not. *Rosenthal*, 14 Cal.4th at 423-431.

Unconscionability is a question of law for the court, but "numerous factual issues may bear on that question." *Gutierrez v. Autowest, Inc.* (2006) 114 Cal.App.4th 77, 89. As to the evidence that is presented, reviewing courts will consider *de novo* the interpretation of a written contract when no conflicting extrinsic evidence was admitted. <u>E.g.</u>, *CPI Builders, Inc. v. Impco Technologies, Inc.* (2001) 94 Cal.App.4th 1167, 1171–1172. Where there *are* conflicts in evidence, the trial court's findings are entitled to deference under the substantial evidence test. <u>E.g.</u>, *American Federation of State, County & Municipal Employees, Local 1902, AFL–CIO v. Metropolitan Water District of Southern California* (2005) 126 Cal.App.4th 247, 257. In this case, however, the terms of the Project CC&Rs are not in dispute, and no extrinsic evidence was in dispute – only its legal significance and sufficiency, which are for this Court to decide.

The *Moncharsh* quotation in this brief's introduction included an important principle relevant to the standard of review – because arbitration is favored, courts should try to find ways to enforce it, not find ways to avoid it:

Arbitration is highly favored as a method for settling disputes. Courts should indulge every intendment to give effect to such proceedings . . . *Pacific Investment Co. v. Townsend* (1976) 58 Cal.App.3d 1, 9 (internal citations omitted for readability).

This Court has approved this favorable approach to arbitration in, for example, *Moncharsh*, 3 Cal.4th at 9, and *Doers v. Golden Gate Bridge etc. Dist.* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 180, 189. It is also the approach of the U.S. Supreme Court in FAA cases. E.g., *Moses H. Cone Memorial Hospital*, 460 U.S. at 24-25; 103 S.Ct. at 941. What happened below in this case, though, was the opposite: every "intendment" and "interpretation" was applied to avoid arbitration.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I RECORDED CC&Rs ARE AGREEMENTS BINDING OWNERS' ASSOCIATIONS

This Court has described the "differing history, uncertain mutual interplay, and varying technical requirements" of the doctrines governing CC&Rs as "an unspeakable quagmire," with inconsistent case law providing "byzantine" results. *Citizens for Covenant Compliance v. Anderson* (1995) 12 Cal.4th 345, 352, 361. Consequently, this brief will attempt to provide a conceptual framework for the Court's analysis within the issues raised in the

petition for review, rather than arguing which Court of Appeal opinion is more similar to this case.

The starting point is whether there was an agreement. The Court of Appeal held that the Project CC&Rs "did not constitute an 'agreement' sufficient to waive the constitutional right to jury trial for construction defect claims brought by the homeowners association." (Court of Appeal's Slip Opn. 2) However, CC&Rs have consistently been construed as contracts by California courts. Any agreement would normally encompass the entire document. There should be nothing surprising about these conclusions if one starts at the beginning of a contract analysis.

For over a century, the Civil Code has defined a contract as "an agreement to do or not to do a certain thing." CIVIL CODE §1549. The elements of a contract are:

- 1. Parties capable of contracting;
- 2. Their consent;
- 3. A lawful object; and,
- 4. A sufficient cause or consideration. CIVIL CODE §1550.

As to the first element, "All persons" can enter into a contract unless they are minors, of unsound mind, or have been deprived of their civil rights.

CIVIL CODE §1556. Nothing on the face of the Project CC&Rs or elsewhere in the record suggests that Appellants, the people who bought condominium units, or the association of the people who bought units, are minors, insane, or felons.

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