SUPREME COURT FILED

No. S186149 (Court of Appeal No. D055422) (San Diego Super. Ct. No. 37-2008-00096678-CU-CD-CTJ) JAN - 5 2011 Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

PINNACLE MUSEUM TOWER ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

PINNACLE MARKET DEVELOPMENT (US), LLC, PINNACLE INTERNATIONAL (US), LLC, MARKET DEVELOPMENT (CANADA), LTD., MICHAEL DE COTIIS, an Individual, and Apriano Moela, an Individual,

Defendants and Petitioners.

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FENTON GRANT MAYFIELD KANEDA & LITT, LLP
DANIEL H. CLIFFORD, 114302
JOSEPH KANEDA, 160336
BRUCE MAYFIELD, 057730
18101 Von Karman Avenue, Suite 1940
Irvine, California 92612

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE COURT MUST AFFIRM BECAUSE UNDER PRINCIPLES OF CALIFORNIA CONTRACT LAW NO AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE WAS FORMED BETWEEN PINNACLE AND AN INDEPENDENT ASSOCIATION.

Pinnacle contends the FAA applies to the arbitration provisions in the CC&Rs because they are a written agreement to arbitrate a transaction involving interstate commerce (Allied-Bruce Terminix v. Dobson, supra, 513 U.S. at p. 281) that preempts state law applicable only to arbitration agreements (Perry v. Thomas, supra, 482 U.S. at p. (PBM 21 -24.) As will be more fully briefed post, the 492, fn.9). Association disputes the FAA is controlling or that California law regarding the arbitration of construction defect claims is preempted in the case before the Court. However, assuming, arguendo, the FAA applies, it clearly defers to state law contract principles to determine the enforceability of arbitration clauses. (9 U.S.C § 2; accord, Code Civ. Proc., § 1281.) The FAA specifically allows a defense on "grounds that exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." (9 U.S.C. § 2.) Moreover, the FAA only applies in the first place when, under state law contract principles, a contract is formed. Here, no arbitration agreement was reached.

A. Under California Contract Formation Principles There is no Enforceable Arbitration Contract Between Pinnacle and the Association Because an Independent Association did not Consent to Arbitration.

The party seeking arbitration has the burden of proving the existence of an enforceable arbitration agreement by a preponderance of the evidence. (Engalla v. Permanente Medical Group, Inc. (1997) 15 Cal.4th 951, 972.) "Arbitration may not be compelled absent an agreement to submit the particular claims at issue to arbitration."

(Badie v. Bank of America (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 779, 787-88.) "[T]here is no policy compelling persons to accept arbitration of controversies which they have not agreed to arbitrate." (Id. at p. 788.) "The right to arbitration depends upon contract; a petition to compel arbitration is simply a suit in equity seeking specific performance of that contract." (Engineers & Architects Assn. v. Community Development Dept. (1994) 30 Cal.App. 4th 644, 653.) "It is essential to the existence of a contract that there should be: 1. Parties capable of contracting; 2. Their consent; 3. A lawful object; and, 4. A sufficient cause or consideration." (Civ. Code, § 1550.) "The consent of the parties to a contract must be ... [¶] ... [¶] ... communicated by each to the other." (Civ. Code, § 1565, subd. (3).)

Civil Code section 1352 provides a common interest development is created with recording of the CC&Rs, and other governing documents, and a conveyance of a separate interest coupled with an interest in the common area or membership in the association. "Thus, by statute the Association 'essentially [sprung] into existence' when [the declarant] recorded the declaration and conveyed a separate interest coupled with an interest in the common area or membership in the Association." (Treo@Kettner Homeowners Ass'n v. Superior Court (2008) 166 Cal.App. 4th 1055, 1066 (Treo).)

At all times prior to Pinnacle's conveyance of the first unit and appurtenances, including when the CC&Rs were drafted and recorded, the Association did not exist. As the Court of Appeal correctly observed, "Based on the application of fundamental contract formation principles, we fail to see how the Association could have agreed to waive its constitutional right to a jury trial because, for all intents and

purposes, Pinnacle was the only party to the 'agreement,' and there was no independent homeowners association when Pinnacle recorded the CC&Rs." (Slip Op. at pp. 8-9.) This trick, whereby a developer attempts to obtain a jury waiver by including it in the CC&Rs, has been called a "stealthy device of the developer that is prohibited by public policy." (Villa Milano, supra, 84 Cal.App.4th at p. 829.) Here, Pinnacle was on both sides of the "bargaining" leading to the introduction of the arbitration provisions in the CC&Rs and there was no consent by an independent Association. Without that consent, the CC&Rs are not a contract sufficient to support a motion to compel arbitration between Pinnacle and the Association.

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with the rule established in Citizens for Covenant Compliance v. Anderson (1995) 12 Cal.App.4th 345, 367-368. In Citizens, this Court determined that servitudes could be created by inclusion in recorded CC&Rs and be binding on future purchasers by constructive notice. The issue involved a disputed between owners of different parcels in a subdivision, not involving a common interest association but the Court stated, "The rule is consistent with the rationale that a covenant requires an agreement between the buyer and seller, and not a unilateral action by the developer." (Id. at p. 367.) When a common interest community is created, the inclusion of arbitration provisions in the CC&Rs that are intended to bind the association is a unilateral action by the developer.

The importance of the absence of the Association's knowing and informed agreement to arbitrate, after notice and an opportunity for meaningful reflection, is underscored by *Moncharsh v. Heily & Blase*, supra, 3 Cal.4th at p. 11 wherein this Court confirmed the general rule,

with narrow exceptions, is "an arbitrator's decision cannot be reviewed for errors of fact or law." The Court explained it tolerates the risk of an erroneous arbitration decision because "by voluntarily submitting to arbitration, the parties have agreed to bear that risk in return for a quick, inexpensive, and conclusive resolution to their dispute." (*Ibid.*) The Association had no opportunity to assess the risk of an arbitrator's mistake or the worthiness of a trade-off of the right for a jury trial in order to obtain a speedy decision. (*Id.* at p. 12.)

An impartial observer might question whether the reasoning of the previous paragraphs could not be applied to all of the provisions in CC&Rs, not just the arbitration provisions. The answer has to be in the affirmative; however, the Legislature, through Civil Code section 1356, has provided a process whereby the Association could amend other provisions in the CC&Rs, but Pinnacle isolated the arbitration provisions to preclude amendment without its consent.

## B. CC&Rs are not a Contract Between the Association and Pinnacle.

While California courts routinely interpret CC&Rs as contracts with respect to disputes between members or between members and associations (see, e.g., Barrett v. Dawson (1998) 61 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1048, 1054; Franklin v. Marie Antoinette Condominium Owners Association (1993) 19 Cal.App.4th 824, 828, 833-834; Frances T. v. Village Green Owners Association (1986) 42 Cal.3d 490, 512-513) only the court in Villa Milano Homeowners Association v. Il Davorge, supra, 84 Cal.App.4th at pp. 825-826, fn. 4 has found that an arbitration clause in CC&Rs can be construed as a contract between an association and an unrelated third party. On this point, the Court of Appeal correctly stated:

"[T]hat portion of the *Villa Milano* opinion was poorly reasoned ... We agree ... insofar as it holds CC&Rs can reasonably be 'construed as a contract' and provide a means for analyzing a controversy arising under the CC&Rs when the issue involved is the operation or governance of the association or the relationships between owners and between owners and the association ...' Notably, other than *Villa Milano*, we are aware of no California cases treating CC&Rs as a contract between anyone other than as between owners, or between owners and a homeowners association." <sup>2</sup>

(Slip Op. at pp. 11-12, punctuation and citations omitted.)

As will be discussed *post*, the *Villa Milano* court having found that the CC&Rs arbitration provision was a contract, refused to enforce it on the grounds of unconscionability. (*Villa Milano*, 19 Cal.App.4th at p. 829.)

The holdings in *Treo* and the Court of Appeal are easily reconciled with *Barrett*, *Frances T*. and *Franklin*. CC&Rs are interpreted as contracts, but they are enforced as equitable servitudes. (Chee v. Amanda-Goldt Property Management (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 1360, 1377 ["The same rules that apply to interpretation of contracts apply to the interpretation of CC&R's."]; Nahrstedt v. Lakeside Village Condominium Association (1994) 8 Cal.4th 361, 379 [Civil Code section 1354 states that covenants and restrictions appearing in the recorded declaration of a common interest development are enforceable equitable servitudes, unless unreasonable].)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A detailed electronic search of all jurisdictions has revealed that nationally *Villa Milano* also stands alone on the question of whether CC&Rs can be interpreted as a contract between an association and an unrelated third party declarant with no property interest in the project.

#### This Court explained:

"One significant factor in the continued popularity of the common interest form of property ownership is the ability of homeowners to enforce restrictive CC&R's against other owners (including future purchasers) of project units. Generally, however, such enforcement is possible only if the restriction that is sought to be enforced meets the requirements of equitable servitudes or of covenants running with the land."

(Nahrstedt, 8 Cal.4th at p. 375 [citations omitted].)

The Court also noted courts will not enforce equitable servitudes containing restrictions "that are arbitrary, that is, bearing no rational relationship to the protection, preservation, operation or purpose of the affected land." (*Id.* at p. 381.) Here, the declaration imposes limitations on the power of the Association to deal with Pinnacle that are more restrictive than the limitations imposed on the Association to deal with other persons. Because the arbitration provisions apply only when Pinnacle is named as a party, it is unreasonable to assume that they bear a rational relationship to the protection, preservation, operation or purpose of the Subject Property.

# C. THE COURT CANNOT RELY ON UNILATERAL EMPLOYEE HANDBOOK CASES BECAUSE THEY ARE INAPPOSITE.

This case differs significantly from those California cases recognizing arbitration clauses in employee handbooks are binding as unilateral contracts. For instance, in *Craig v. Brown & Root, Inc.* (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 416, 420, the court determined an agreement to a unilateral contract in an employee handbook may be shown by an employee's express acceptance or may be implied by the parties' conduct. (See also, *Asmus v. Pacific Bell* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1, 11 [employee impliedly accepted changed rules regarding job security by

his continued employment]; DiGiacinto v. Amriko-Omserv Corp. (1997) 59 Cal.App.4th 629, 635 [employee's continued employment constituted implied acceptance of changed compensation rules].)

The Association did not expressly accept the arbitration provision. Nor has it done anything that would imply acceptance.

The case before the Court also differs significantly from unilateral employment contracts where continued employment infers the employee's acceptance of the contract terms. Unlike an employee, once formed, the Association could not quit to show its objection to the arbitration provisions. In fact, to assure the Association could not walk away from arbitrating its claims, Pinnacle attempted to place a significant hurdle in the Association's path by making it nye onto impossible for the Association to amend the CC&Rs to eliminate the arbitration provision.

#### D. THE ASSOCIATION IS NOT BOUND BY THE ORIGINAL P&SAS.

Pinnacle also argues the Association's is bound to arbitrate its claims because the original purchasers agreed to arbitrate any construction defect claims they may have. (PBM 9.) Pinnacle misses the mark three ways. First, the Association was not a party to the P&SAs and neither can enforce them nor is bound by them. Second, the Association is a corporation that can only be contractually bound by its board of directors. Third, the Association has causes of action in its own right as a property owner.

### 1. THE ASSOCIATION IS A NON-SIGNATORY NOT BOUND BY THE P&SAs.

It is virtual black letter law that a contract cannot bind third parties. (*EEOC v. Waffle House, Inc.* (2002) 534 U.S. 279, 294 ["It goes without saying that a contract cannot bind a nonparty."].) In the

arbitration arena, there are two exceptions to this rule: 1) cases where there exits a pre-existing relationship between the non-signatory and one of the parties to the arbitration (see, e.g., Madden v. Kaiser Foundation Hospitals (1976) 17 Cal.3d 699, 702-709 [state employers allowed to contract for medical plan on employee's behalf]; Wilson v. Kaiser Foundation Hospitals (1983) 141 Cal.App.3d 891, 896-900 [spouse must arbitrate wrongful death claim if decedent spouse applied for health insurance containing arbitration clause]; Pietrelli v. Peacock (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 943, 947 [preconception contract binds child]) and 2) third party beneficiaries who are seeking benefits under the contract containing an arbitration clause. (See, e.g., Goldman v. KPMG, LLP (2009) 173 Cal.App.4th 209, 231 [third party may not make use of a contract containing an arbitration clause and then attempt to avoid the duty to arbitrate] citing Boucher v. Alliance Title Co., Inc. (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 262, 272.)

Neither of these circumstances is before the Court. There was no pre-existing relationship between the original purchasers and the association when the purchase agreements were signed. Further, the Association has not sought, nor could it seek, the benefits of the purchase and sales agreements. As the Goldman court explained: before a plaintiff can be compelled to arbitrate, its allegations must rely on or depend on the terms of the written agreement containing the arbitration provision. (Goldman, 173 Cal.App.4th at p. 231; accord Benasra v. Marciano (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 987, 991 ["It is one thing to permit a nonsignatory to relinquish his right to a jury trial, but quite another to compel him to do so."].) The Association's claims do not arise out of the purchase and sales agreements and it is not seeking to

enforce arbitration.<sup>3</sup> Accordingly, the Association is not bound by the P&SAs or by the CC&Rs that Pinnacle seeks to bootstrap through the P&SAs.

## 2. THE ASSOCIATION MEMBERS CANNOT CONTRACTUALLY BIND THE ASSOCIATION.

Individual home buyers have different goals than do associations and the home buyers are not bound by the fiduciary duty that burdens members of an association's board of directors to act in the best interest of the community at large. (Raven's Cove Townhomes, Inc. v. Knuppe Development Company (1981) 114 Cal.App.3d 783, 800-801.) Merely because a home buyer agrees to arbitrate separate interest claims against the developer on his own behalf at the time of purchase, does not mean that the separate entity association is bound to the buyer's agreement to arbitrate made even before the buyer is a member of the association, let alone a member of the association's board. Moreover, purchase and sales agreements do not meet the legislative standard for rules and voting procedures required by Civil Code section 1363.03 and are not considered "governing documents" as defined in Civil Code section 1351, subdivision (j).

<sup>&</sup>quot;Nonparties have been allowed to *enforce* arbitration agreements where there is sufficient identity of parties, where one has acted as an agent for a signatory, where one is estopped because he has voluntarily joined an arbitration proceeding, where an individual partner is bound by his partnership's agreement, where the person urging enforcement can show he is a third party beneficiary of the arbitration agreement, and where a construction contract or subcontract incorporates an arbitration procedure found in a related contract." (*Benasra*, 92 Cal.App.4th at p. 991, fn. 1 citing *Valley Casework, Inc. v. Comfort Construction, Inc.* (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 1013, 1021-1022, original emphasis.)

Importantly, the members of a non-profit corporation, like the Association, can never bind the corporation to a contract. (Corp. Code, § 7210 [the activities and affairs of a corporation shall be conducted and all corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the direction of the board of directors].) And, at the time the P&SAs were executed, the purchasers were not members of the Association. They became members, with voting rights, only upon transfer of condominium unit's title to them at the close of escrow. (Civ. Code, § 1358, subd. (b).)

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